
 
 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

 
 

Cabinet Members' 
Decisions 

 
 

made between May and June 2016 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date Issued: 
 

03 August 2016 
 

 
 



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Cabinet Members' Decisions 
 

made between May and June 2016 

 
 
Item  Pages 

OPEN 
 

1.   RECRUITMENT OF INTERIM PROGRAMME DIRECTOR FOR 
CONTRACT MANAGEMENT  

1 - 4 

2.   REVISED HOME TO SCHOOL TRAVEL ASSISTANCE POLICY  5 - 7 

3.   RESOURCES REQUIRED FOR SMARTER BUDGETING  8 - 10 

4.   RESOURCES REQUIRED FOR TRANSFORMATION SUPPORT  11 - 13 

5.   APPROVAL FOR REVISED ESTIMATES FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF 
CLOUD-BASED PRODUCTIVITY AND COLLABORATION TOOLS 
(OFFICE 365)  

14 - 21 

6.   SAFER NEIGHBOURHOODS FEES AND CHARGES  PROPOSALS 
2016-17  

22 - 29 

 
EXEMPT 

 

7.   APPROVAL OF INVESTMENT IN THE PROFESSIONAL WITNESS 
BUSINESS CASE AGREED BY COMMERCIAL REVENUE BOARD  

 

8.   APPROVAL TO HOLD AN MINI-COMPETITION IN ORDER TO 
APPOINT A CONTRACTOR TO UNDERTAKE PHASE 1 OF THE 
DIRECT HOUSING DELIVERY PROGRAMME'S CONSTRUCTION 
WORK  

 

9.   APPROVAL TO UTILISE THE EXTENSION PROVISIONS 
AVAILABLE IN FIVE MENTAL HEALTH SUPPORTED HOUSING 
CONTRACTS  

 

10.   APPROVAL OF TENDER FOR DEMOLITION OF FORMER 
ELECTRICITY SUB-STATION ON SHEPARD BUSH GREEN  

 

11.   APPROVAL TO APPOINT MEPK ARCHITECTS TO PROVIDE 
ARCHITECTURAL SERVICES AND TO APPOINT HUNTERS TO 
PROVIDE EMPLOYER'S AGENT SERVICES AT 50 
COMMONWEALTH AVENUE, W12 7QR  

 

 



 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
(CABINET MEMBER DECISION) 

 
29 April 2016 

 

 

 

RECRUITMENT OF INTERIM PROGRAMME DIRECTOR FOR CONTRACT 
MANAGEMENT  
 

Report of the Cabinet Member For Commercial Revenue And Resident 
Satisfaction 

Open Report. 
 

Classification - For Decision  
 

Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: None 
 

Accountable Director: Michael Hainge, Commercial Director 
 

Report Author: Michael Hainge, Commercial 
Director  

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 875306992 
E-mail: 
Michael.hainge@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1. This report seeks approval to recruit an interim Programme Director for Contract 
Management to continue to support work on the Managed Services Programme 
and to ensure radical improvement of contract management in H&F. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATION 

2.1. That the Cabinet member for Commercial Revenue and Resident Satisfaction 
agree that the Commercial Director recruit an interim Programme Director for 
Contract Management for an initial period of six months with the potential to 
extend this for a further three months.  

 

AUTHORISED BY:          
The Council Member has signed this 
report  
         
DATE:   20 May 2016   

 

1



3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

3.1. The effectiveness of contract management in H&F is unproven. There are likely 
to be significant improvements that can be made which in turn will realise 
significant benefits to the Council in both cash savings and outcome terms. 
 

3.2. By recruiting an interim Programme Director for Contract Management, we will: 
 

 Provide ongoing, essential commercial support to MSP contract/ relationship 
matters 

 

 Undertake an objective assessment of LBHF contract management capability 
and drive improvement in that capability to maturity at “continuous 
improvement” level against IACCM standards within six months 

 

 Identify and implement corporate standards for contract management 
behaviours, governance and capabilities through collaboration and leadership 
of LBHF officers, embedding process and cultural change 

 

 Engage with key outsourced suppliers and LBHF contract management staff 
to develop an environment of innovation and efficiency / savings.  
 

 Re-focus the operation of current contracts though a risk/ reward mechanism 
e.g. business cases/ innovation cases/ commercialisation cases 

 

 Engage with and support end user innovation, supplier innovation, and 
collaborative cross boundary working 

 

 Capture the intellectual capital developed during the transformation and work 
with the Business Intelligence team to develop a platform for business growth 
in a contract management hub for LBHF. This will be developed as a business 
proposition to other Authorities within six-nine months 

 

 Target efficiency, demand management, and supplier intelligence to drive out 
agreed target savings. 
 

 
4. BACKGROUND AND PROPOSAL  

4.1. LBHF have a Contracts Register with total contract values of £1,188m spread 
over 335 contracts. Around 70% of spend is being driven by fewer than 30 
contracts. 

 
4.2. Contract management of these 20 contracts is undertaken by 17 officers, of 

which six manage contracts with annual values of more than £5m. 
 

4.3. LBHF want to ensure that it is performing highly in the management of all 
contracts, and has arranged for external training of an initial group of 17 officers 
in a recognised Commercial and Contract Management programme. 
 

4.4. The council currently lacks consolidated corporate controls to: 

2



 

 underpin the performance of contract management or  

 test that performance against appropriate benchmarks or 

 capitalise on commercial innovation 
 
 
5. OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS  

5.1. The options are to make no appointment, or appoint a suitable candidate.  

 

6. CONSULTATION 

6.1. None 
 

 
7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

7.1. By recruiting in line with current arrangements and existing equalities policies 
there are no specific equalities implications. 

 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

8.1. None 
 
 

9. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

9.1. The cost of this appointment is £605 per day, including agency mark-up. This is a 
very competitive rate. Assuming 165 days of billable time over the maximum 
nine-month term, the cost will be £99,825. 

 
 
11.  IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 
11.1 Contracting businesses will enjoy an improved, more focussed relationship with 

LBHF. Opportunities for local SMEs may be enhanced as future conditions on 
achieving local economic value are more rigorously enforced. 

 
 

12.       RISK MANAGEMENT  

12.1 The principal risk is that the appointee is unable to meet the council’s 
requirements. The prospective appointee has been working very successfully in 
H&F on managed services for the past five weeks. Contractually, the council can 
terminate the contract at one month’s notice. 

 
13.        PROCUREMENT AND IT STRATEGY IMPLICATIONS 
 
13.1  None 
 

3



 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. None   

 

4



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
CABINET MEMBER DECISION 

 
February 2015 

  

REVISED HOME TO SCHOOL TRAVEL ASSISTANCE POLICY 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Children and Education 
 

Open 
 

Classification - For Decision 

Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Andrew Christie 
 

Report Author: Ian Heggs, Director of Schools 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 7745 6458 
E-mail: 
ian.heggs@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1. RECOMMENDATIONS 

1.1. To consider the revised Home to School Travel Assistance Policy (Appendix 1) 
and approve its use for local decision making. This policy will be continually 
reviewed as the full impact of the Children and Families Act becomes more 
evident. 

2. REASONS FOR DECISION 

2.1. This Cabinet Member decision is required as the implementation of the 
guidelines will affect a distinct group of young people within the borough. There is 
no significant expenditure attached to the implementation of these proposals. 

3. BACKGROUND  

3.1. The Local Authority has a duty and has powers to make particular travel 
arrangements for children with special educational needs and disabilities in order 
to facilitate their attendance at an appropriate education provision. This is set out 

AUTHORISED BY:  ....................................... ................................................. 
The Cabinet Member has signed this 
report. 
 
DATE: 27th May 2016 

 

5



in the Education Act 1996, as amended in section 77 of the Education and 
Inspections Act 2006.  

3.2. The SEN Service has recently revised the Borough’s Home to School Travel 
Assistance Policy as the previous version contained ambiguous and often 
confusing language which resulted in inconsistencies in decision making. The 
revised policy has been produced so that the process by which the local authority 
decides whether a young person is entitled to travel support is clear and 
transparent. 

3.3. It is anticipated that the implementation of the revised policy will not result in any 
significant changes to the number of young people who receive home to school 
travel support. 

3.4. Reflecting our high aspirations for children and young people, the Borough is 
aiming to increase the provision of ‘Independent Travel Training’ and the revised 
version of the policy will now include a specific ‘Independent Travel Training 
Policy and Strategy Document’ as an appendix. Independent travel training is just 
one part of the continuum of travel assistance support that the local authority 
offers – it provides tailored and practical help in travelling by public transport, on 
foot or by bicycle and has been proven to be beneficial by enabling greater 
access to recreational facilities, further education and ultimately employment 
opportunities. 

4. CONSULTATION 

4.1. Extensive consultation on the policy has been undertaken with: 

 Parents of children and young people with SEND, represented by 
Parentsactive  

 Local authority officers  

 Local authority and specialist SEN legal advisors 

4.2. We will continue to monitor the effectiveness of the policy during the first year of 
operation. We will make amendments as required to ensure that all statutory 
legislation continues to be complied with. 

5. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

5.1. This policy is being implemented to ensure that children and young people with 
special educational needs and disabilities are subject to a fair and equitable 
decision making process when applying for home to school travel assistance. 

5.2. The impact of the new policy regarding equalities will be monitored during the 
first year of implementation and any necessary amendments to the policy will be 
made if required. 

 

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

6



6.1. It is the responsibility of parents and carers to ensure that their children attend 
school and this includes the necessary travel arrangements to and from school. 
The Local Authority has a duty and has powers to make particular travel 
arrangements for children with special educational needs and disabilities to 
facilitate their attendance at an appropriate education provision.  

6.2. These responsibilities are set out in the Education Act 1996, as amended in 
section 77 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006. It is important to note that 
the 2006 Act refers to travel rather than transport. Therefore travel assistance 
can consist of a range of options depending on the needs of the pupil. 

6.3. The revised policy has been developed in line with statutory guidance issued by 
the Department for Education and good practice implemented across the West 
London Alliance of local authorities. The policy has also been reviewed by the 
local authority’s Legal Department and independent specialist SEN legal advisors 
to ensure that it is legally robust. 

7. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

7.1. A result of the current policy is that a number of young people who may not 
necessarily require travel assistance are in receipt of support. This not only limits 
their potential to achieve independence as they transition into adulthood, but also 
results in an ineffective use of local authority funding. It is anticipated that, in the 
medium to long-term, the implementation of the new policy will ensure that only 
those young people with the greatest need will be in receipt of more expensive 
forms of travel assistance, allowing a more effective use of reducing local 
authority resources, which can be directed to the funding of frontline SEN 
Provision. 

 

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 
None. 

LIST OF APPENDICES: 
Appendix 1 – Home to School Travel Assistance Policy – Feb 2016 

 

7



 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 
CABINET MEMBER DECISION 

 
June 2016 

 

 

RESOURCES REQUIRED FOR SMARTER BUDGETING  

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance 

Open Report 

Classification - For Decision 

Key Decision: No 

Wards Affected: None 

Accountable Director: Kim Dero, Director of Delivery and Value  

Report Author:  
Andy Heys– Interim Smarter Budgeting Programme 
Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 07824305347 
E-mail: 
andy.heys@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1. The Council has to make significant year on year savings to deliver services within 
existing and anticipated budgets. The current forecast is a gross budget gap in excess 
of £50m from 2017/18 to 2020/21. The Smarter Budgeting programme has now been 
established with 9 Outcome Teams and a group of experts working alongside council 
officers to identify opportunities to meet these financial challenges. 

 
1.2. One of the objectives of the Smarter Budgeting team is to ensure that the approach 

developed is documented and handed over so Smarter Budgeting can become a 
business as usual methodology for years to come. In order to achieve this, plans to 
scale back the expert group and hand work over to officers need to be developed.   

 
 

2.  RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1. To approve expenditure of £99,680 financed from the MTFS Delivery Risk reserve to 
fund the Smarter Budgeting team to support Budget Challenge sessions and begin work 
to embed the current processes into business as usual.    

 

3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

AUTHORISED: 
The Cabinet Member has Signed this 
report 
 
DATE: 12 June 2016 

 

8



3.1. Without the agreement for further Smarter Budgeting resources, it will be not be 
possible to provide the level of support required to produce quality business cases for 
the Member Budget Challenge sessions and to support the identification of further 
opportunities for budget savings.  

 
4. BACKGROUND  

4.1. Delivering the Smarter Budgeting programme to the tight schedule to deliver savings in 
2017/18 will require funding for a new phase of the Smarter Budgeting Programme. 

4.2. It is anticipated that the resources will be in a central support team and will be deployed 
flexibly across Outcomes and departments as needed.  

4.3. This paper focuses on additional interim resource requirements, over and above those 
which are easily available internally from the corporate and ICM teams. It provides 
information on the anticipated high level resource costs.  

5. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  

5.1. The option to source the Smarter Budgeting team entirely from internal resources has 
been rejected as the capacity and capability required for a Smarter Budgeting project is 
not available. Instead, this proposal presents a hybrid option whereby the external team 
reduces over time replaced with internal change managers and business analysts.   

5.2. Phase 1 of the Smarter Budgeting programme to date has focussed on the initiation of 
the project. In Phase 2, the Smarter Budgeting team will focus on supporting the 
outcome teams through the budget challenge sessions; and the further identification of 
cost saving initiatives. Towards the end of phase 2, the Smarter Budgeting team will 
begin to reduce as ICM, Corporate and Outcome teams become more involved in the 
project.  

Programme costs table May to September 2016– Figure 1 

 
These costs reflect the scaling down of the team during June as a total of 3 Business Analysts 
and Change Managers leave the team towards the end of June.   

 
6. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

Phase 2

Resources  (May to June)

External Resources

Programme Asst (1/2 time) 8,350             

Business Analysts 47,820           

Change Managers 43,510           

99,680           

9



6.1. There are no direct Equalities impacts on any of the protected groups that would result 
from the council adopting the recommendations of this paper. 

 
6.2. All equality implications which may arise as a result of Smarter Budgeting to deliver 

outcomes project will be consulted on during the development of proposals. 
 

 
7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1. This paper is to gain approval to for funding for early resources to work on zero based 
budgeting to deliver outcomes project. The project aims to help the council maintain 
frontline services and deliver its statutory duties within a reduced funding climate. 

 
8. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

8.1. £100,000 has previously been approved to fund phase 1 (initiation) of the Smarter 
Budgeting programme..  

8.2. It is proposed that the £99,700 be funded from the MTFS delivery risk reserve. The 
balance of this reserve at the start of 2016/17 is £6.148m.  

8.3. The financial implications have been completed by Andrew Lord – Head of Strategic 
Planning and Monitoring, Tel: 020 8753 2531. 

 
9. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 

9.1. All potential implications which may arise as a result of the Smarter Budgeting project 
will consider the impact on local businesses. 

 
10.  RISK MANAGEMENT  

10.1. Risk management is built into the project and risks will be managed as part of the on-
going project management. 

  
11. PROCUREMENT AND IT STRATEGY IMPLICATIONS 

11.1. All procurement and IS implications which may arise as a result of Smarter Budgeting 
to deliver outcomes project will be consulted on during the development of proposals. 

 

 

10



 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 
CABINET MEMBER DECISION 

 
June 2016 

 
 

 

RESOURCES REQUIRED FOR TRANSFORMATION SUPPORT 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance 

Open Report 

Classification - For Decision 

Key Decision: No 

Wards Affected: None 

Accountable Director: Kim Dero, Director of Delivery and Value  

Report Author:  
Andy Heys– Interim Smarter Budgeting Programme 
Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 07824305347 
E-mail: 
andy.heys@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1. The Council has to make significant year on year savings to deliver services within 
existing and anticipated budgets. The current forecast is a gross budget gap in excess 
of £50m from 2017/18 to 2020/21. The Smarter Budgeting programme will identify 
savings opportunities but the council must also prepare for the transformation projects 
that are identified. These need to be established within a well thought-through target 
operating model, and a well-controlled transformation programme to manage the 
realisation of the benefits identified through Smarter Budgeting.   

 
 

2.  RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1. To approve expenditure of £99,730 financed from the MTFS Delivery Risk reserve to 
fund transformation support and advice to help manage the development of a council 
target operating model and the transition of opportunities from Smarter Budgeting into 
business projects.    

 

3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

3.1. Without the agreement for Transformation resources, it will be not be possible to provide 
the level of support required to produce a council target operating model or to manage 

AUTHORISED: 
 
The Cabinet Member has Signed this 
report 
 
DATE: 12 June 2016 

 

11



the set up and roll out of the transformation programme as it emerges out of the Smarter 
Budgeting Opportunities.  

 
4. BACKGROUND  

4.1. Preparing the council for the transformation programme will require the development of 
a well thought through Target Operating Model; Structuring the transformation 
programme; designing the appropriate controls and setting up the governance 
structures. It will also include appropriate coaching, training and support of staff to hand 
over the approach to business as usual.  

4.2. It is anticipated that the transformation resources will be partially shared with the 
Smarter Budgeting team and will be deployed flexibly across the council as needed.  

5. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  

5.1. The option to source transformation support entirely from internal resources has been 
rejected as the capacity and capability required is not available internally. For this 
reason, it is proposed that the transformation support and advice is provided by the 
Smarter Budgeting Programme Manager with administrative support from within the 
Smarter Budgeting team. 

6. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

6.1. There are no direct Equalities impacts on any of the protected groups that would result 
from the council adopting the recommendations of this paper. 

 
6.2. All equality implications which may arise as a result of the transformation support project 

to deliver outcomes project will be consulted on during the development of proposals. 
 

 
7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1. This paper is to gain approval to for funding for resources to work on transformation 
support. The project aims to help the council maintain frontline services and deliver its 
statutory duties within a reduced funding climate. 

 
8. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

8.1. It is proposed that the £99,730 be funded from the MTFS delivery risk reserve. The 
balance of this reserve at the start of 2016/17 is £6.148m.  

8.2. The financial implications have been completed by Andrew Lord – Head of Strategic 
Planning and Monitoring, Tel: 020 8753 2531. 

 
9. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 

9.1. All potential implications which may arise as a result of the transformation project will 
consider the impact on local businesses. 

 
10.  RISK MANAGEMENT  

10.1. Risk management is built into the project and risks will be managed as part of the on-
going project management. 

  
11. PROCUREMENT AND IT STRATEGY IMPLICATIONS 

12



11.1. All procurement and IS implications which may arise as a result of the transformation 
support project will be consulted on during the development of proposals. 

13



 

 
 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 
CABINET MEMBER’S DECISION 

 
 
 

TITLE OF REPORT : Approval for Revised Estimates for Implementation of Cloud-
based Productivity and Collaboration Tools (Office 365) 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance  

Open Report 

Classification - For Decision  

Key Decision: No 

Wards Affected: All 

Accountable Director: Ed Garcez, Chief Information Officer 

Report Author: Howell Huws, Head of Operations 

 

Contact Details: 

Tel: 020 8753 5025 
E-mail: howell.huws@lbhf.gov.uk  

 
 
 
 
 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1. This report seeks approval for the confirmed costs of the Remediate stage 
for Phase 3 of the cloud-based collaboration and productivity tools (Office 
365) programme, based on the authority delegated by Cabinet in October 
2015 to the Cabinet Member for Finance as prices are agreed with 
suppliers.  

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. Approve funding the revised costs, set out below, for the Remediate stage 
of the implementation of cloud-based collaboration tools using Office 365, 
at an additional cost of £74,653, to be funded from the IT enablers budget 
from the IT Enablers Fund.  

2.2. £60,000 is transferred from the Corporate Pressures and Demands 
reserve. 

AUTHORISED BY: 
The Cabinet for Finance has signed this 
report  
DATE:     18 June 2016  

 

14



3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

3.1. The delivery of Office 365 is key to delivery of desktop services at the end 
of the ICT service contract with the HFBP, and is seen as critical to 
providing business continuity through the resulting transition. 

3.2. This project is also a key enabler required to facilitate further office savings 
from the Town Hall estate consolidation and to achieve savings in excess 
of £4.7m per annum in IT. 

3.3. The adoption of Office 365 supports the council’s ICT strategy in terms of 
providing joined-up solutions to users, enabling an improved user 
experience at reduced cost and increasing the flexibility and collaborative 
working capability available to staff enabling significant productivity 
benefits to be realised. These benefits are detailed in the documents 
referred to below in the list of background papers. 

4. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  

4.1. In a report entitled Funding Approval for Implementation of Cloud-based 
Productivity and Collaboration Tools (Office 365), (Cabinet, November 
2015) the councils approved rough estimates of £643,000 for the 
implementation of Office 365.  The report noted a number of uncertainties 
on the final shape of the phase 3. With only high level best estimates 
available at the time, authority to approve detailed funding was delegated 
to the Cabinet Member for Finance as the scope of work was agreed and 
the approach detailed.   

4.2. At the point of approval, the costs for the implementation were not fully 
known, and the paper noted the high level of uncertainty around these 
estimates: 

 The unprecedented Microsoft technical design, with the cloud-based 
Active Directory synchronising with local, on-premise Active 
Directories.  

 Application compatibility 

 The approach for migrating the email and associated storage costs 

 Email tools such as support for Blackberry devices and secure email. 

 Office 2016 deployment 

4.3. In October, it was intended that we would undertake Phase 3 
implementation in a number of stages.  As a result of undertaking the 
detailed design work, opportunities have been taken to reshape the way in 
which the programme works to ensure the work is carried out with minimal 
duplication, but also to address the significant time constraint of enabling 
email exit from HFBP by October 2016.  Progress against these stages is 
outlined in the table below: 

15



Stage Progress – May 2016 

Phase 3 - Remediate infrastructure and transition to new services 

A. Initial integration pilot, for 
which outside technical 
support is required 

The three councils have successfully integrated 
on-premise active directories with a single 
tenancy of Microsoft Office 365, enabling all 
three councils to deploy a number of Office 365 
features, including:  

 SharePoint Online (the basis for the new 
intranet) 

 OneDrive for Business – free online data 
storage for staff and a key enabling 
functionality for collaborative working 

 Office 2016 online versions of Word, Excel, 
OneNote, Delve and Sway 

B. SharePoint Intranet pilot  Pilot developed (as per October 2015 scope) 
and translated through to live deployment 
(beyond the original scope). 

C. Roll-out core e-mail and 
calendar features, to 
enable transition to the 
new platform  

HFBP have also completed the hybrid server 
configuration that enables email to be migrated 
with minimal business impact.  Initial testing 
underway.  Technical pilot underway, to be 
followed by 50 user business pilot across 
shared services. 

D. Migrating public folders 
from the archive 

Plan developed and technical resources 
secured 

Phase 4 - exploit Office 365 capability 

E. Skype pilot (software 
enabling low-cost 
communication amongst 
staff and with partners) 

Plan developed and technical resources 
secured (beyond the original scope). 

F. Yammer pilot (enterprise 
social networking) 

Not being promoted in LBHF, but available. 

G. SharePoint document 
management pilot  

Plans in development but not yet costed.  
Subject to a separate business case. 

H. Broadening device 
access pilot  

Risk assessments completed and designs 
documented (note that this was excluded from 
the October 2015 scope, but brought forward to 
simplify the exit from the data centre). 

4.4. The next stage is the technical pilot, and this has provided a checkpoint for 
the remaining costs of the project. The purpose of the pilot will be to test 
the technical solution, trial some of the modules available within Office 365 
and provide assurance that the councils are able to implement the single 
incidence required to maximally exploit the cloud collaboration capability.  
On satisfactory completion of the pilot project, the work can to transition 
fully to the new platform and migrate users to the cloud-based email 
service can then progress.  

16



5. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES 

5.1. The work involved in the remediate stage have proved more complex than 
first understood, with a number of elements requiring rework as the design 
changed or in order to accommodate subtleties in the shared services 
architecture revealed through the detailed design work. The revised 
estimates compared to the October estimates for the Remediate stage of 
the implementation are as follows: 

Remediate stage estimate 
October 

estimate £ 
Revised 

estimate £ 

HFBP Programme Manager across shared services 10,000 10,000 

HFBP Programme and Project Managers 26,000 26,000 

H&F Programme and Project Managers 15,000 15,000 

Technical work to support single tenant 98,597 130,671 

Application compatibility testing 20,585 43,256 

Office 2016 deployment on thick clients 22,870 42,778 

Remediate total 193,052 267,705 

5.2. With the delays to the Technical pilot, as timescales are getting 
compressed, there is increasing delivery risk.  Current timescales for the 
remaining work are shown in the high-level plan below: 

Task Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov 

Technical Pilot        

Business Pilot         

Email migration         

Public folder migration         

5.3. The programme remains critical to the following financial and non-financial 
objectives of LBHF: 

 Providing business continuity through the transition of IT service 
provision to LBHF from HFBP and preventing extensive additional 
costs of transition that would accrue without Office 365; 

 Enabling smoother and more effective home and other location working 
required for the Town Hall refurbishment programme, allowing the desk 
to staff ratio to decrease and office costs to be saved.  

 Significantly improving shared working both within the council, in 
shared services such as CHS and ASC, and in the shared working with 
other councils and partners targeted by H&F’s administration 

 Enabling targeted annual savings in excess of £4.7m to be achieved 
through the transition from the Hammersmith & Fulham Bridge 
Partnership (HFBP) to the hybrid approach to IT management. 

6. CONSULTATION 

6.1. There is no public consultation requirement  

17



7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

7.1. There are no Equality/HR implications. Staff training will be considered, 
planned and implemented as appropriate.  The programme board will work 
closely with the user reference group to develop an effective 
communications plan. 

Verified by Jo Meagher, Senior HR Manager 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

8.1. The ICT Strategy has been approved by the Cabinet in May 2015 and the 
proposed transition to Phase 3 is in accordance with such strategy. 

8.2. The subsequent report of 2nd Nov 2015 seeking delegation for approving 
funding mentioned the then uncertainties as to the final shape of the phase 
3 and only high level best estimates had been provided in such report. The 
estimates for the remediate stage have now been firmed up with a 
variance of £74,653 and such expenditure is being recommended for 
approval. 

8.3. There are no particular legal implications arising from this report which 
mainly seeks approval for the revised funding for the remediate stage of 
an earlier approved project. 

8.4. Verified by: Babul Mukherjee, Senior Solicitor (Contracts) Phone: 020 
7361 3410  

9. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

9.1. This report recommends approving funding the following revised costs for 
the Remediate stage of the implementation of cloud-based collaboration 
tools using Office 365, at an additional cost of £74,653, to be funded from 
the IT enablers budget from the IT Enablers Fund. 

9.2. To enable this work, it is recommended that £60,000 is transferred from 
the Corporate Pressures and Demands reserve to the IT Enablers 
Reserve. 
Verified by Gary Ironmonger, Finance Manager (Revenue Monitoring) Tel 
2109. 

10. BUSINESS IMPLICATIONS 

10.1. This is extra work through an existing contract.  There are no business 
implications. 

18



11. PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

11.1. There are no procurement implications as this paper relates to a variance 
of budget. 

Verified by: by Alan Parry, Interim Head of Procurement. 

12. IT STRATEGY IMPLICATIONS  

12.1. The report is aligned with the current shared services ICT strategy and 
vision of converging software and infrastructure, whilst enabling the 
transition from the HFBP contract, the new ways of working planned 
through the Town Hall project, better collaboration and productivity 
amongst staff and the realisation of savings in excess of £4.7m. 

Verified by: Ed Garcez, Chief Information Officer, 020 8753 2900. 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. Description of background 
papers 

Name/ Ext 
of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. Shared ICT Services – Approval of 
strategy to align cloud based 
collaboration tools and funding for 
Phase 1 Assess 

Howell Huws, 
Ext: 5025 

shared ICT service 

2. Shared ICT Services – Procurement of 
software licenses for cloud based 
collaboration tools (Phase 2 of cloud 
based collaboration) 

Howell Huws, 
Ext: 5025 

shared ICT service 

3. Shared ICT Services – Funding 
Approval for Implementation of Cloud-
based Productivity and Collaboration 
Tools (Office 365) [Phase 3]  

Howell Huws, 
Ext: 5025 

shared ICT service 

 
 
  

19



Appendix 1 Initial areas of uncertainty 
As at October 2015, the report entitled Funding Approval for Implementation of 
Cloud-based Productivity and Collaboration Tools (Office 365) noted  the 
following areas affecting the reliability of the estimates: 

 At the time, the main technical risk to the successful completion of the project 
was the feasibility of Microsoft’s proposal, with the cloud-based Active 
Directory synchronising with local, on-premise Active Directories.  

 Application compatibility – the project requires upgrading to Office 2016 and 
to Internet Explorer 11.  Many applications make use of these pieces of 
Microsoft software.  These may encounter compatibility issues that take 
longer to resolve than anticipated. 

 Cost uncertainty: there are a range of areas where costs are not yet certain: 

o The exact approach for migrating the email, the consultancy support 
required, costs and duration 

o The exact statement of works (and therefore costs) for the Microsoft 
consultancy support  required 

o Storage costs – the combination of Office 365 with a virtual desktop 
requires the use of a local cache to ensure adequate performance.  There 
will be additional costs during migration, but also on an ongoing basis, 
which may offset some of the anticipated savings from email storage. 

 Email tools configuration – there are a range of supplementary tools where 
detailed analysis work on the configuration work required has not been fully 
estimated.  These include support for Blackberry devices, the mail filtering 
required, and enablement of a secure email capability. 

 Information governance model – alongside the detailed planning of the 
technical work required to deliver Office 365, a series of policies will need to 
be developed for use with cloud-based collaboration tools.  This may, in turn, 
impact on the estimates for the work required. 

 Office 2016 will need to be deployed on thick clients.  In most cases, this can 
be undertaken remotely, but this work has not been planned in sufficient detail 
for a reliable estimate. 

 On transitioning to a new cloud based service, especially one with as high a 
volume of traffic as an email service, there is a potential impact on the internet 
bandwidth required for the organisation.   
 

Explanations for significant variances from original estimates 

Component Notes  

Configuration work to 
support single tenant 

Significantly more complex work, including delivery of the 
H&F Intranet 

Application 
compatibility testing 

Increased costs arising from need to accelerate IE11 
testing in order to enable Intranet go-live, resulting in 
duplication of testing. 

Migrating the email 
Increased complexity of support required for end users, 
but offset by using archive migration tool directly to 
replace some of the Microsoft Consultancy support 

20



Component Notes  

Microsoft 
consultancy support   

Reduced as work undertaken as part of email migration 

Support for 
Blackberry devices 

Length of time required to reconfigure Blackberry 
significantly greater than expected 

Office 2016 
deployment on thick 
clients 

Assumptions around using existing deployment tools 
have proved invalid.  Testing has not yet delivered a 
viable option. 

Other technical work 
Partly affected by the withdrawal of funded scoping days 
(£7,280) 

HFBP Programme 
and Project 
Managers 

Work to date has shown that this is significantly more 
complex to manage, particularly due to the need to work 
with the other boroughs. 

Storage charges Could be regarded as revenue rather than project costs 

 

21



 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
CABINET MEMBER DECISION 

 
18th May 2016 

 

 

SAFER NEIGHBOURHOOD FEES AND CHARGES PROPOSALS 2016/17 

Report of the Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member For 
Environment, Transport & Residents Services 

Open Report  

Classification - For Decision  
Key Decision: No 

Wards Affected: ALL 

Accountable Director: Dave Page, Director for Safer Neighbourhoods 

Report Author:  
Chris Reynolds 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 753 2459 
E-mail: 
chris.reynolds@lbhf.gov.uk  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1. On 24th February 2016, Full Council agreed to a 1.1% inflationary uplift on all 
Community Safety fees and charges effective from 1st April 2016. In some cases 
the uplift was less than 1.1%, where charges were rounded down to sensible 
denominations or frozen at 2015/16 charging levels. 
 

1.2. This report proposes above inflationary uplifts and new charges, from 1st June 
2016, for the following commercial services: 

 Motorcycle recovery 

 Stray dogs 

 Professional Witness service (private antisocial behaviour investigations) 

 CCTV 

 Out of borough/private schools outdoor sports charges 

 Mortuary Services 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. It is recommended that the proposed fees and charges set out in Appendix A-C 
are agreed by the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member. 

AUTHORISED BY:  
  The Cabinet Members have signed this 
report                        
 
DATE: 21 June 2016  

 

22

mailto:chris.reynolds@lbhf.gov.uk


 
3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

3.1. To ensure that fees and charges are approved for 2016/17 that are reasonable, 
competitive and provide good value for money for the Council and service user. 

 
4. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  

Community Safety 
 

4.1. Motorcycle recovery generates a small amount of income per annum for the 
Council (approximately £3k). There are two tiers of charging – charges to 
members of the public who are collecting their stolen motor cycles (the charge for 
which has been frozen for 2016/17), and charges to insurance companies who 
collect the motorcycles for insurance purposes, which are proposed to increase. 
Rather than charge an odd amount from a 1.1.% inflationary uplift, a £5 increase 
in the charge is proposed for 2016/17 (from £100 to £105).  
 

4.2. New charges are proposed for the stray dogs service. An extensive 
benchmarking exercise has been undertaken that shows that all other London 
boroughs already charge for this service. The proposed charges, set out in 
Appendix A, are in line with other boroughs. 
 

4.3. The professional witness service generates a small amount of income per annum 
for the Council (approximately £5k). There has been an increase in the demand 
for this service and as such, it is proposed to increase charges from £35 to £50 
per hour (42%) from April 2016. Even with this level of increase, prices remain 
competitive compared with the private sector. Working with the Director for 
Commercial Services a third PWO has been recruited to enable us to sell the 
service to other users. 
 

4.4. New charges are proposed for deployable CCTV cameras and CCTV footage 
analysis – Public Space CCTV has worked with a private company over the last 
18 months to develop a rapid deployable CCTV system.  This was required as 
trails of existing systems were found to be operational unfit for purpose.  The 
service now has a growing number of these deployable cameras.  They are 
actively being deployed across the Borough for a number of reasons including 
detecting and deterring crimes such as drug dealing, combating fly-tipping, 
housing related issues and anti-social behaviour.  These cameras are available 
to all services within the Council and the Police.  There has been interest from a 
number of outside organisations who would like to utilise these cameras for 
various tasks.  We have submitted a schedule of rates for the use of these 
cameras.  Interest has been shown by Housing Association and event organisers 
and there are many other potential clients for our solution – having a clear pricing 
schedule will allow these potential income streams to be realised 

 
4.5. The existing and proposed fees and charges referred to above are set out in 

more detail in Appendix A 
Parks 

 

23



4.6. Over the last couple of years, the number of out of borough and private schools 
utilising the borough’s parks and open spaces has increased significantly.  This is 
leading to increased pressure on facilities in terms of availability for residents and 
borough schools and also greatly increasing the Council’s maintenance burden.  
It is therefore proposed to significantly increase the fees and charges levied to 
these organisations to ensure the Council fully recoups the additional 
maintenance burden and costs associated with their increased using and in doing 
so not burdening/penalising residents and/or borough schools. 
 

4.7. The existing and proposed fees and charges referred to above are set out in 
more detail in Appendix B 

 
Mortuary Services 
 

4.8. Fulham public mortuary provides a service for Kingston Hospital and Uxbridge 
public mortuaries as they are not equipped to perform post-mortems on high risk 
infectious cases. A small income is derived from this service of about £10k per 
year. Fulham is one of very few public mortuaries able to handle special post-
mortems. 
 

4.9. Prices have increased for testing of histology and toxicology, which we send to 
hospitals or other specialist providers and is required in all high risk cases. These 
costs are included in the proposed overall price increase. 
 

4.10. Pathologist fees have increased from £96.40 per post mortem to £110 per post 
mortem and are reflected in the price increase. 

 
4.11. Charges to solicitors for second post-mortems cover the costs of the pathologist, 

any toxicology or histology taken and our own overheads for staff, equipment, 
utilities etc. These are private post-mortems at the request of solicitors where 
they may contest the initial findings. As with the above price increases these are 
reflected in the overall cost.  
 

4.12. The existing and proposed fees and charges referred to above are set out in 
more detail in Appendix C. 

 
5. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
5.1. There are no equality implications arising from this report.  

 
6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
6.1. There are no particular legal implications arising from this report. 

 
6.2. Implications completed by Rhian Davies, Chief Solicitor  

 
7. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.1. The proposals set out in this report will ensure that fees and charges remain 

competitive and therefore maximise external income for the Council. 

24



 
7.2. Implications completed by Kellie Gooch, Head of Finance. Telephone: 020 8753 

2203. 
 
8. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 

 
8.1. There are no implications for business as a result of the proposals set out in this 

report. 
 

9. RISK MANAGEMENT  
 

9.1. There are no strategic risk comments required in this case.  
 

9.2. Implications verified/completed by: Mike Sloniowski, Shared Services Risk 
Manager. Telephone: 0208 753 2587 
 

10. PROCUREMENT AND COMMERCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1. There are no immediate procurement implications arising from the report’s 

recommendations. The Commercial and Procurement Division will support the 
service department, as and when required, to help any optimise commercial and 
revenue opportunities that might arise from these services. 
 

10.2. Implications completed by John Francis, Interim Head of H&F Procurement (job 
share)  020-8753-2582. 

 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1.    

 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix A - Community Safety Non Standard Uplifts to Fees and Charges 2016/17 

Appendix B – Outdoor Sports Bookings Fees and Charges 2016/17 

Appendix C – Mortuary Services 

25



Appendix A 

Community Safety Non Standard Uplifts to Fees and Charges 2016/17 

Description Apr-15
Annual % 

Change
Apr-16

COMMUNITY SAFETY

Motorcycle recovery - insurance company £100.00 5.0% £105.00

STRAY DOGS

Return of Stray Dogs to Owners N/A New Charge £25.00

Statutory fee N/A New Charge £25.00

Administration Fee N/A New Charge £25.00

Kennelling (per day) N/A New Charge £12.50

Vets Fees N/A New Charge Variable

ANTI SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR

Anti Social Behaviour investigations - Professional Witness Service (per hour) £35.00 42.9% £50.00

CCTV

4G deployable CCTV camera - Survey (per hour) N/A New Charge £25.00

4G deployable CCTV camera - Individual PoleCam (set up) N/A New Charge £400.00

4G deployable CCTV camera - Individual PoleCam (charge per day) N/A New Charge £100.00

4G deployable CCTV camera - Individual PoleCam (charge per week) N/A New Charge £600.00

4G deployable CCTV camera - Individual PoleCam (charge per calendar month) N/A New Charge £1,800.00

4G deployable CCTV camera - Two PoleCams (set up) N/A New Charge £600.00

4G deployable CCTV camera - Two PoleCams (charge per day) N/A New Charge £180.00

4G deployable CCTV camera - Two PoleCams (charge per week) N/A New Charge £1,000.00

4G deployable CCTV camera - Two PoleCams (charge per calendar month) N/A New Charge £3,000.00

Footage analysis  - Forensic review of recorded footage (per hour) N/A New Charge £30.00

Footage analysis  - Forensic review of recorded footage (per day) N/A New Charge £200.00  

26



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM

General Outdoor Sports Fees and Charges from 1st April 2016

* Bookings for 10 or more games are excempt from VAT

GRASS FOOTBALL PITCH 2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost
Unit of 

Charge

Inclusive of changing rooms

Full-size pitch £87.00 1.1% £88.00 Game

Full-size pitch £348.00 1.1% £352.00 Day

9-a-side pitch £53.00 0.9% £53.50 Game

7-a-side pitch £43.00 0.9% £43.40 Game

5-a-side pitch £35.80 1.1% £36.20 Game

Per pitch - In-Borough State School £40.90 1.0% £41.30 Hour

Per pitch - Out of Borough and Private School £51.20 20.1% £61.50 Hour

11-A-SIDE ALL WEATHER PITCH 2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost
Unit of 

Charge

Pitch hire only

Per pitch £87.00 1.1% £88.00 Hour

Per pitch - In-Borough State School £40.90 1.0% £41.30 Hour

Per pitch - Out of Borough and Private School £51.20 20.1% £61.50 Hour

Per pitch - H&F Primary Schools Sports Association (1pm-3.30pm) New charge £40.00 Session

Per pitch - H&F Primary Schools Sports Association (9am-3.30pm) - 5 times/year New charge £125.00 Session

5-A-SIDE ALL WEATHER PITCH 2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost
Unit of 

Charge

Pitch hire only

Per pitch £43.00 0.9% £43.40 Hour

Per pitch - In-Borough State School £25.50 0.8% £25.70 Hour

Per pitch - Out of Borough and Private School £32.70 20.8% £39.50 Hour

RUGBY/ GAELIC FOOTBALL/ LA CROSSE/ HOCKEY/ AUSTRALIAN RULES PITCH 2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost
Unit of 

Charge

Inclusive of changing rooms

Full-size pitch New charge £88.00 Game

Junior-size pitch New charge £55.00 Game

Per pitch - In-Borough State School £40.90 1.0% £41.30 Hour

Per pitch - Out of Borough and Private School £51.20 20.1% £61.50 Hour

CRICKET PITCH 2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost
Unit of 

Charge

Inclusive of changing rooms

Per pitch (weekend and bank holiday) £117.50 0.9% £118.50 Game

Per pitch plus nets (weekend and bank holiday) £128.00 0.4% £128.50 Game

Per pitch (weekday) £97.00 1.0% £98.00 Game

Per pitch plus nets (weekday) £107.00 0.9% £108.00 Game

Per pitch - In-Borough State School £40.90 1.0% £41.30 Hour

Per pitch - Out of Borough and Private School £51.20 20.1% £61.50 Hour

CRICKET NETS 2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost
Unit of 

Charge

Inclusive of net hire only when requested without a pitch

Per pair £15.30 0.7% £15.40 Hour

Per pair - In-Borough State School £12.20 0.8% £12.30 Hour

Per pair - Out of Borough and Private School £14.70 2.0% £15.00 Hour

Per pair (pre-booked for 5 bookings) New charge £55.00 Hour

ROUNDERS/ BASEBALL/ SOFTBALL 2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost
Unit of 

Charge

Pitch hire only

Per pitch £87.00 1.1% £88.00 Game

Per pitch - In-Borough State School £40.90 1.0% £41.30 Hour

Per pitch - Out of Borough and Private School £51.20 20.1% £61.50 Hour

MINI BASEBALL 2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost
Unit of 

Charge

Pitch hire only

Per pitch £61.00 1.1% £61.70 Game

TOUCH/ TAG RUGBY 2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost
Unit of 

Charge

Pitch hire only

Per pitch £46.00 1.1% £46.50 Game

Per pitch - In-Borough State School £40.90 1.0% £41.30 Hour

Per pitch - Out of Borough and Private School £51.20 20.1% £61.50 Hour

ATHLETICS AND SPORTS DAYS - HURLINGHAM PARK AND SOUTH PARK 2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost
Unit of 

Charge

Inclusive of line markings (100m track) and changing rooms

Per area £61.00 1.1% £61.70 Hour

Per area - In-Borough State School £40.90 1.0% £41.30 Hour

Per area - Out of Borough and Private School £51.20 20.1% £61.50 Hour

Pitch hire only

Per area £51.00 1.0% £51.50 Hour

ATHLETICS AND SPORTS DAYS - ALL OTHER SITES 2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost
Unit of 

Charge

Area hire only

Per area £28.60 1.0% £28.90 Hour

Per area - In-Borough State School £25.50 0.8% £25.70 Hour

Per area - Out of Borough and Private School £32.70 25.4% £41.00 Hour

TENNIS 2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost
Unit of 

Charge

Court hire only

Pay and play £9.70 1.0% £9.80 Hour

Pay and play - Youth (under 18) £3.50 0.0% £3.50 Hour

Pre-booked - school £3.50 0.0% £3.50 Hour

Pre-booked (minimum of 5 bookings) £35.50 1.1% £35.90 Hour

Pre-booked (minimum of 10 bookings) £71.00 1.1% £71.80 Hour

Floodlights New charge £3.00 Hour

Coaches licence fee £1,149.00 1.1% £1,162.00 Annual

NETBALL 2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost
Unit of 

Charge

Court hire only

Per court (daytime) £20.40 1.0% £20.60 Hour

Per court (floodlit) £30.70 1.0% £31.00 Hour

Per court - In-Borough State School (daytime) £17.40 0.6% £17.50 Hour

Per court - Out of Borough and Private School (daytime) £22.50 2.2% £23.00 Hour

Per court - In-Borough State School (floodlit) £22.50 0.0% £22.50 Hour

Per court - Out of Borough and Private School (floodlit) £27.50 0.0% £27.50 Hour

COMMUNITY ROOM - HURLINGHAM PARK 2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost
Unit of 

Charge

Room hire £56.00 1.1% £56.60 Hour

Hammersmith & Fulham RFC (2 hours) £45.00 1.1% £45.50 Session

TRAINING AREA - HURLINGHAM PARK 2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost
Unit of 

Charge

Inclusive of changing rooms and floodlights (where available)

Per area £40.70 0.7% £41.00 Hour

Per area - In-Borough State School £40.70 0.7% £41.00 Hour

Per area - Out of Borough and Private School £51.20 1.6% £52.00 Hour

Per area - Hammersmith & Fulham RFC (90 minues) £52.50 1.9% £53.50 Session

Per area - Fulham FC Foundation (school holidays only) £128.00 1.2% £129.50 Session

TRAINING AREA - BISHOPS PARK, SOUTH PARK, EEL BROOK COMMON AND LILLIE 

ROAD REC
2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost

Unit of 

Charge

Area hire only

Per area £40.70 0.7% £41.00 Hour

Per area - Fulham FC Foundation (school holidays only) £92.00 1.1% £93.00 Session

BOWLS 2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost
Unit of 

Charge

Operation of bowling greens is carried out by local bowls clubs

Adult £2.00 0.0% £2.00 Round

OAP/ Youth £1.00 0.0% £1.00 Round

Adult season ticket £44.00 1.1% £44.50 Annual

OAP/ Youth season ticket £22.00 1.1% £22.25 Annual

Locker rent £10.00 0.0% £10.00 Annual

Appendix B 

Outdoor Sports Bookings Fees and Charges 2016/17 

 

 

27



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM

Linford Christie Stadium Sports Fees and Charges from 1st April 2016
* Bookings for 10 or more games are excempt from VAT

GENERAL 2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost
Unit of 

Charge

Annual inclusive pass

Adult (member) £90.00 1.1% £91.00 Annual

Adult (non-member) £140.00 1.1% £141.50 Annual

Concessionary (member) £40.00 1.0% £40.40 Annual

Concessionary (non-member) £70.00 1.1% £70.80 Annual

Student £70.00 1.1% £70.80 Annual

Adult (member) £50.00 1.0% £50.50 6 month

Adult (non-member) £80.00 1.1% £80.90 6 month

Causal use

Adult (member) £4.00 0.0% £4.00 Session

Adult (non-member) £5.00 0.0% £5.00 Session

Concessionary (member) £2.00 0.0% £2.00 Session

Concessionary (non-member) £3.00 0.0% £3.00 Session

Lifestyle plus member £0.50 0.0% £0.50 Session

Adult spectator/ entrance fee (events) £2.00 0.0% £2.00 Event

Use of shower/ changing facilities £2.00 0.0% £2.00 Session

RUNNING TRACK HIRE 2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost
Unit of 

Charge

Training - In-Borough State School £30.70 1.0% £31.00 Hour

Training - Out of Borough and Private School, and General £56.00 1.8% £57.00 Hour

Sports day - In-Borough State School (up to 3 hours) £163.80 1.0% £165.50 Session

Sports day - Out of Borough and Private School, and General (up to 3 hours) £196.00 1.3% £198.50 Session

Sports day - In-Borough State School £66.00 1.1% £66.70 Hour

Sports day - Out of Borough and Private School, and General £79.80 1.5% £81.00 Hour

Thames Valley Harrier meeting £56.00 1.8% £57.00 Session

Thames Valley Harrier contract rate - standard training £3,000.00 1.0% £3,030.00 Annual

GRASS CENTRE PITCH 2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost
Unit of 

Charge

Inclusive of changing rooms if desired

Per pitch (weekend) £107.00 1.1% £108.20 Game

Per pitch (weekday) £92.00 1.1% £93.00 Hour

Per pitch - In-Borough State School £66.00 1.1% £66.70 Hour

Per pitch - Out of Borough and Private School £79.20 17.4% £93.00 Hour

Per pitch (weekday) (floodlit) £117.70 1.1% £119.00 Hour

Per pitch - In-Borough State School (floodlit) £76.80 1.0% £77.60 Hour

Per pitch - Out of Borough and Private School (floodlit) £92.00 29.3% £119.00 Hour

Rugby training area (top or bottom) £38.90 1.0% £39.30 Hour

Rugby training area - In-Borough State School (top or bottom) £38.90 1.0% £39.30 Hour

Rugby training area - Out of Borough and Prive School (top or bottom) £46.70 1.7% £47.50 Hour

11-A-SIDE ALL WEATHER PITCH 2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost
Unit of 

Charge

Inclusive of changing rooms if desired

Per pitch £92.00 1.1% £93.00 Hour

Per pitch - In-Borough State School £49.00 1.0% £49.50 Hour

Per pitch - Out of Borough and Private School £61.40 1.8% £62.50 Hour

Per pitch - Adult (special price for QPR FC/ Chelsea FC/ Chiswick Hockey) £53.00 0.9% £53.50 Hour

Per pitch - Junior (special price for QPR FC/ Chelsea FC/ Chiswick Hockey) £35.80 2.0% £36.50 Hour

Per pitch (unbooked cash rate) £112.60 1.1% £113.80 Hour

5-A-SIDE ALL WEATHER PITCH 2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost
Unit of 

Charge

Inclusive of changing rooms if desired

Per pitch (off-peak 9am-5pm weekday) £28.60 1.0% £28.90 Hour

Per pitch (peak 5pm-10pm weekday and weekend) £43.00 0.9% £43.40 Hour

Per pitch - In-Borough State School £25.50 0.8% £25.70 Hour

Per pitch - Out of Borough and Private School £32.70 0.9% £33.00 Hour

Per pitch - Adult (special price for QPR FC/ Chelsea FC/ Chiswick Hockey) £28.60 1.4% £29.00 Hour

Per pitch - Junior (special price for QPR FC/ Chelsea FC/ Chiswick Hockey) £25.60 1.6% £26.00 Hour

Per pitch - QPR FC Foundation (school holidays only) £55.00 1.8% £56.00 Hour

Per pitch (unbooked cash rate) £61.00 1.1% £61.70 Hour

BASEBALL BATTING CAGES 2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost
Unit of 

Charge

Per cage New charge £15.00 Hour

Per cage - In-Borough State School New charge £12.50 Hour

Per cage - Out of Borough and Private School New charge £15.50 Hour

ROOM/ STORAGE HIRE 2015/16 Cost % Increase 2016/17 Cost
Unit of 

Charge

Community room £25.60 0.8% £25.80 Hour

Announcers box £25.60 0.8% £25.80 Hour

Changing room per team £25.60 0.8% £25.80 Game

Storage container £1,894.00 0.8% £1,910.00 Annual

Community room - School £20.40 1.0% £20.60 Hour

Announcers box - School £20.40 1.0% £20.60 Hour

Changing room per team - School £20.40 1.0% £20.60 Game

Storage container - School £1,331.20 1.0% £1,345.00 Annual  
 
 
 

28



Appendix C 
 
Mortuary Services 
 

MORTUARY SERVICES 2015 Uplift 2016 

Infectious cases from 
Kingston Hospital to 
Fulham Mortuary 

£960.00 4.2% £1,000.00 

Second Post Mortem 
charge to solicitors  

£660.00 6.1% £700.00 

 

29


	Agenda
	1 Recruitment of Interim Programme Director for Contract Management
	2 Revised Home to School Travel Assistance Policy
	3 Resources Required For Smarter Budgeting
	4 Resources Required for Transformation Support
	5 Approval for Revised Estimates for Implementation of Cloud-based Productivity and Collaboration Tools (Office 365)
	6 Safer Neighbourhoods Fees and Charges  Proposals 2016-17

